Our Ref: SJT



# Constitution

Healthy Heads In Trucks & Sheds Foundation Limited

COLIN BIGGERS & PAISLEY PTY LTD ABN 28 166 080 682 T +61 2 8281 4555 F +61 2 8281 4567 Level 42 2 Park Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia GPO Box 214 Sydney NSW 2001 Australia DX 280 Sydney

# Contents

<b>1.</b> 1.1	Definitions and Interpretation	
1.1	Interpretation	
2.	Preliminary	. 4
2.1	Name and ACN of Company	4
2.2	Nature of the Company	
2.3	Replaceable Rules	5
3.	Objects & Powers	5
3.1	Principal object of the Company	
3.2	Principal activities of the Company	
3.3	Powers of the Company	
	Manahana hin	~
<b>4.</b> 4.1	Membership	
4.1 4.2	Fees	
4.2 4.3	Applications for Membership	
4.4	Determination of Applications for Membership	
4.5	Change in Qualifications	
4.6	Register of Members	
4.7	Liability of Members	
4.8	Cessation of Membership	8
4.9	Conduct of Members & Member Discipline	8
5.	Meetings of Members	0
<b>5</b> .1	Calling of General Meetings	
5.2	Notice of Meetings	
5.3	Right to Attend Meetings	
5.4	Quorum	
5.5	Chairman for General Meetings	
5.6	Adjourned Meetings	11
5.7	General Conduct of Meetings	
5.8	Voting	
5.9	Procedure for Polls	
5.10	Chairman's Casting Vote	
5.11 5.12	Voting of Members Objections to Qualification to Vote	
5.12	Proxies	
5.14	Representative	
5.15	Attorneys	
5.16	Electronic Meetings of Members	
•		
6.	Directors & Board	
6.1 6.2	Number of Directors	
6.2 6.3	Eligibility for Appointment Appointment and removal of a Director	
6.3 6.4	Interests of Directors	
6.5	Remuneration	
6.6	Vacation of Office	
6.7	Board Management & Control	
6.8	Composition of Board	
6.9	Board Proceedings	16
6.10	Out of Session Board Decisions	
6.11	Chairman	
6.12	Secretary	
6.13	Patron	17

6.14	Committees	17
7.	Administration	
7.1	Execution of Documents	
7.2	Minutes and Board Papers	18
7.3	Accounts	
7.4	Payments	
7.5	Audit	
7.6	Custody of Records	
7.7	Inspection of Records	19
8.	Winding Up and Liability	
8.1	Resolution for Winding Up	
8.2	Contribution of the Members on Winding Up	
8.3	Distribution of Property on Winding Up	
8.4	Officers Indemnities and Insurance	
9.	By-Laws	21
10.	Variation of Constitution	22
11.	Severing Invalid Provisions	

# 1. Definitions and Interpretation

# 1.1 Definitions

Unless the contrary intention appears or the context otherwise requires words and phrases used in this Constitution that are defined in the Corporations Act or Corporations Regulations have the same meaning in this Constitution as in that legislation and the following words have the meanings ascribed to them below:

Board	The board of Directors comprised as described in clause 6.8.
Business Day	A day on which trading banks are open for ordinary business in the Australian Capital Territory.
Chairman	The person appointed under clause 6.12.
Company	Healthy Heads in Trucks & Sheds Foundation Limited.
Corporations Act	The <i>Corporations Act 2001</i> (Cth), except to the extent of any exemption, modification, declaration or order made in respect of that legislation which applies to the Company.
Corporations Regulations	The <i>Corporations Regulations 2001</i> (Cth), except to the extent of any exemption, modification, declaration or order made in respect of that legislation which applies to the Company.
Directors	The directors of the Company for the time being appointed to that office pursuant to subclause 6.3(a)(i) and any Alternate Director.
Founding Members	Each of:
Members	Linfox Australia Pty Ltd (ACN 004 718 647);
	Qube Holdings Limited (ACN 149 723 053);
	Ron Finemore Transport Pty. Ltd. (ACN 106 495 087);
	Toll Holdings Limited (ACN 006 592 089); and
	Woolworths Group Limited (ACN 000 014 675).
General Meeting	Any meeting of Members.
Member	A person for the time being registered as a member of the Company.
Objects	The objects of the Company as described in clause 3.1 of this Constitution.
Register	The register of Members of the Company.
Secretary	A company secretary of the Company for the time being.

## 1.2 Interpretation

In this Constitution, unless a contrary intention appears:

- (a) words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa;
- (b) words importing any gender include all other genders;
- (c) words importing persons include companies and corporations;
- (d) headings and tables of contents are inserted for convenience only and have no effect on interpretation;
- (e) "including" and similar expressions are not and must not be treated as words of limitation;
- (f) the word "person" includes an individual, the estate of an individual, a corporation, an authority, an association or a joint venture (whether incorporated or unincorporated), a partnership and a trust;
- (g) where a word or phrase is given a defined meaning, any other part of speech or grammatical form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning.
- (h) a reference to a clause, subclause or clause is a reference to a clause, subclause or clause of or to this Agreement;
- a reference to a statute, regulation, proclamation, ordinance or by-law includes all statutes, regulations, proclamations, ordinances or by-laws amending, consolidating or replacing it, and a reference to a statute includes all regulations, proclamations, ordinances and by-laws issued under that statute;
- (j) a reference to any legislation or statutory instrument or regulation is to be construed in accordance with the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901* (Cth) or the equivalent State or Territory legislation, as applicable;
- (k) where words or phrases are given a defined meaning, any other part of speech or other grammatical form of those words or phrases shall have a corresponding meaning; and
- (I) the term "notice" shall include notice, authorisation, request, nomination, notification and any other form of communication.

# 2. Preliminary

## 2.1 Name and ACN of Company

The name of the Company is Healthy Heads in Trucks & Sheds Foundation Limited (ACN  $\frac{\mu}{}$ ).

#### 2.2 Nature of the Company

- (a) The Company is limited by guarantee and does not have share capital.
- (b) The income and property of the Company, however derived or obtained, shall be applied solely towards the promotion of the Objects and, except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, no portion thereof shall be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus, or otherwise to the Members or Directors of the Company.

## 2.3 Replaceable Rules

The Replaceable Rules contained in the Corporations Act do not apply to the Company.

# 3. Objects & Powers

## 3.1 Principal object of the Company

- (a) The Company is a not-for-profit charity.
- (b) The principal object of the Company is to promote the prevention and control of mental health disorders in truck drivers, distribution centre and warehouse staff and other logistics industry participants as well as to support healthier options around diet, exercise and individual wellbeing.
- (c) The Company aspires to be the overarching umbrella body for the logistics industry for mental health through facilitating and coordinating the creation of a single national mental health plan for its constituents.

## 3.2 **Principal activities of the Company**

The Company will seek to achieve its Object by facilitating:

- (a) Increased awareness in the logistics industry and the general public of the issues surrounding mental health in the industry;
- (b) An increase in the number of people trained in mental health at transport facilities;
- (c) Standardisation of policies and regulation at transport facilities;
- (d) Research and reporting on behalf of industry to deliver the latest information and trends including a potential mental health baseline for the logistics industry;
- (e) Innovation such as delivery of specific technology-based mental health and wellbeing support tools for the logistics industry;
- (f) Helping individuals be healthier from a diet and mental health perspective through encouraging improved healthy living choices such as better nutrition and increased exercise, as well as including factors such as greater access to further education;
- (g) Leveraging the learnings of the network of the Company;
- (h) Increasing mental health literacy and leadership capability across the logistics industry by providing appropriate language and confidence to talk about mental health articulately and with impact;
- (i) Engaging proactively with the media to encourage a better understanding and positive reporting of mental health issues in the logistics industry in Australia;
- (j) Creating a culture of openness supporting people, especially senior business leaders with experience of mental health problems, to tell their stories and inspire others to speak out about their experiences;
- (k) Enabling practical steps to be taken by employers based on data and empirical evidence;
- (I) Provide logistics industry employers and their customers with best practice in dealing with mental health issues (for example, Employee Assistance Programs,

how to connect with our health system, mental health as part of an overarching wellness strategy for the national logistics sector);

- (m) Developing and sharing creditable practices to help logistic industry businesses create mentally healthy workplaces; and
- (n) Driving improvements in how the logistics industry responds and adapts to creating mentally healthy workplaces by providing evidence-based recommendations.

#### 3.3 Powers of the Company

The Company has all of the powers set out in the Corporations Act as may from time to time be necessary to enable to Company to do all things that are necessary, convenient or incidental to carrying out the Objects.

## 4. Membership

#### 4.1 Members

- (a) The Members of the Company are:
  - (i) Founding Members;
  - (ii) such other person or organisation as the Company may from time to time admit to membership in accordance with this Constitution.
- (b) Each Member agrees to provide a guarantee of not more than ten dollars (\$10.00) to defray any liabilities and expenses of the Company upon its winding up or dissolution.

#### 4.2 Fees

- (a) The Board may in its discretion fix:
  - (i) an entrance fee payable by a Member on entry to membership; and / or
  - (ii) an annual subscription fee payable by a Member for each year of membership.
- (b) If a Member's entrance or subscription fee remains unpaid for a period of 30 days after it becomes due, the Board may direct the Secretary to give notice to the Member of that fact. If the subscription remains unpaid on the expiration of 21 days after the date of such notice, the Board may proceed to expel the member from membership of the company and remove the member's name from the register of members.
- (c) If the Board fixes an entrance fee or annual subscription fee, Members shall be and remain debarred from exercising any and all rights and privileges of membership until such time as all fees are paid in full.

#### 4.3 Applications for Membership

An application for membership must be:

- (a) accompanied by any applicable entrance and subscription fee (if any);
- (b) made in the form (if any) approved by the Board from time to time provided that each such application must contain:

- (i) an undertaking on the part of the applicant to be bound by this Constitution;
- (ii) an undertaking on the part of the applicant to be bound by the Company's Code of Conduct in force from time to time (if any);
- (iii) the postal address and electronic mail address of the applicant;
- (iv) particulars of the applicant's qualifications for membership;
- (v) if the applicant is an organisation, the name of an authorised contact within the organisation; and
- (vi) the signature (or where applicable, the seal) of the applicant, or such other form of authentication (electronic or otherwise) approved by the Board from time to time; and
- (c) lodged with the Company at the place (if any) and in the manner (if any) approved by the Board from time to time.

## 4.4 Determination of Applications for Membership

- (a) The Board may in its discretion admit or reject any applicant for membership provided that if an applicant is not admitted to membership in due course, all monies paid by that applicant to the Company must be returned in full.
- (b) The Board must determine whether or not to approve an application for membership at its next meeting after receipt of the application.
- (c) The Board may require an applicant to give such further information as it desires before approving or refusing the admission of an applicant for membership.
- (d) An applicant for membership is taken to be admitted as a Member upon the Board approving the application and the name, address and email address of the Member being entered in the Register as a Member.
- (e) The Board shall not be obliged to provide reasons, written or otherwise, for any decision it makes concerning membership applications.

#### 4.5 Change in Qualifications

- (a) Members must promptly notify the Company of any change in the qualification of the Member to be a member of the Company.
- (b) If the Board in its absolute discretion determines that a Member no longer qualifies to remain a Member, the Board may by notice in writing to the Member terminate the Member's membership.
- (c) The Secretary must make appropriate amendments to the Register to reflect any changes effected to a membership as a result of a decision made by the Board.

#### 4.6 Register of Members

- (a) The Secretary must maintain a Register of Members of the Company.
- (b) The address of a Member in the Register will be the address of the Member for the purpose of service of any notices.
- (c) The rights of a Member are not transferable.

## 4.7 Liability of Members

The liability of the Members is limited to the amount of the guarantee provided pursuant to clause 4.1(b) and to any unpaid amount of contribution referred to in clause 5.2(a).

## 4.8 Cessation of Membership

- (a) A Member ceases to be a Member if:
  - (i) the Member resigns by written notice to the Secretary;
  - (ii) the Member, being a natural person:
    - dies or becomes incapable of managing his or her own affairs by reason of illness, injury or any other medical (including mental) conditions;
    - (B) commits an act of bankruptcy within the meaning of section 40 of the *Bankruptcy Act 1966* (Cth); or
  - (iii) any of the following happens in relation to the Member, being a body corporate or incorporated association:
    - (A) an application is made, proceedings are commenced or a meeting of members is held with a view to winding up the Member or the Member entering administration;
    - (B) a receiver, liquidator or administrator is appointed to the Member;
    - (C) a compromise or arrangement of the kind referred to in part 5.1 of the *Corporations Act* is proposed or entered into by the Member;
    - (D) an application is made or proceedings are commenced by any person or other entity with a view to obtaining cancellation of registration of the Member or appointment of an inspector or other officer to investigate the Member's affairs pursuant to any legislation;
    - (E) the Member is, or may be deemed within the meaning of any applicable law to be, insolvent or unable to pay its debts; or
    - (F) circumstances exist which would enable a court upon application to order the Member to be wound-up;
  - (iv) the Board makes a decision, pursuant to clause 4.9(a), to expel a Member from membership.
- (b) Any Member whose membership of the Company ceases will be liable for all monies due by that Member to the Company in addition to any sum not exceeding ten dollars (\$10.00) for which the Member is liable under clauses 5.2(a) and 5.1(b).under this Constitution. A Member may not make any claim, monetary or otherwise, on the Company, its funds or its property, except as a creditor of the Company.

#### 4.9 Conduct of Members & Member Discipline

(a) If any Member:

- (i) wilfully refuses or neglects to comply with the provisions of this Constitution; or
- (ii) is guilty of any conduct which, in the reasonable opinion of the Board, is unbecoming of a Member or prejudicial to the interests of the Company;

the Board has the power to censure, fine, suspend or expel the Member from the Company.

- (b) At least one week before the meeting of the Board at which a resolution under clause 4.9(a) is to be considered, the Board must provide the Member with:
  - (i) notice of the meeting;
  - (ii) any allegations against them;
  - (iii) the intended resolution; and
  - (iv) advice that the Member may, at the meeting and before the passing of the resolution, have an opportunity to give, orally or in writing, any explanation of defence they think fit.
- (c) Any Member on whom notice is served pursuant to clause 4.9(b) may, by notice in writing lodged with the Secretary at least 24 hours before the time for holding the meeting at which the resolution is to be considered by the Board, elect to have the question dealt with by the Company in General Meeting.
- (d) If an election is made under clause 4.9(c):
  - (i) a General Meeting must be convened for consideration of the proposed resolution; and
  - (ii) if the resolution is passed by a majority of those Members present who are entitled to vote and who do vote, the Member concerned will be dealt with accordingly.

# 5. Meetings of Members

# 5.1 Calling of General Meetings

- (a) Subject to the Corporations Act, the Directors may call a General Meeting of Members at a time and place as the Directors see fit.
- (b) The Directors must call and arrange to hold a General Meeting at the request of the Members made in accordance with the Corporations Act.
- (c) The Members may call and arrange to hold a General Meeting as provided by the Corporations Act.

#### 5.2 Notice of Meetings

- (a) Subject to s. 249H(2) of the Corporations Act, the Company must give not less than twenty one (21) days' notice of a General Meeting
- (b) A notice of a General Meeting sent by post is taken to be given three (3) days after it is posted.
- (c) A notice of General Meeting sent by fax, or other electronic means, is taken to be given on the Business Day after it is sent.

- (d) Notice of a General Meeting must be given to the Members, each Director, each Alternate Director and any auditor of the Company.
- (e) A notice of a General Meeting must:
  - (i) set out the place, date and time for the meeting;
  - (ii) state the general nature of the business of the meeting; and
  - (iii) set out or include any other information or documents specified by the Corporations Act.
- (f) The accidental omission to give notice to, or the non-receipt of notice by, the Members or another entitled person, will not invalidate the proceedings or any resolution at any Company meeting.

#### 5.3 Right to Attend Meetings

(a) Each Member, Director and auditor of the Company is entitled to receive notice of and attend any General Meeting.

## 5.4 Quorum

A quorum for a General Meeting is not less than four (4) Members or Members' proxies or attorneys or representatives personally present who are entitled to vote.

In determining whether a quorum for a General Meeting is present:

- (a) where more than one proxy, attorney or representative of a Member is present, only one of those persons is counted;
- (b) where a person is present as a Member and as a proxy, attorney or representative of another Member, that person is counted once for the purposes of the quorum;
- (c) A quorum for a General Meeting must be present at the start of the Meeting and any adjournment thereof;
- (d) If a quorum is not present within thirty (30) minutes after the time appointed for a General Meeting called pursuant to clause 6.1(a), then the meeting will stand adjourned to such date, time and place as the Directors may by notice to the Members appoint or, failing any appointment, to the same day in the next week at the same time and place as the meeting adjourned.
- (e) If a quorum is not present within thirty (30) minutes after the time appointed for a General Meeting called pursuant to either clause 5.1(b) or 5.1(c) then the meeting is dissolved.

## 5.5 Chairman for General Meetings

- (a) The Chairman is to act as chair for all general meetings.
- (b) Where a General Meeting is held and the Chairman is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting or does not wish to act as chair of the meeting, the Directors present shall choose one of their number or, in the absence of all Directors or if none of the Directors present wish to act, the Members present shall elect one of their number to be chair of the meeting.

## 5.6 Adjourned Meetings

- (a) The Chairman of any General Meeting may, if a quorum is present (and shall as directed by that meeting), adjourn the meeting to another time and/or another place, but no further business may be transacted at the meeting from which the adjournment took place until the meeting is resumed.
- (b) Where a meeting is adjourned, new notice of the resumed meeting must be given if the meeting is adjourned for one month or more.

## 5.7 General Conduct of Meetings

- (a) Subject to the Corporations Act, the Chairman of a General Meeting is responsible for the general conduct of that meeting and for the procedures to be adopted at that meeting.
- (b) The Chairman of a General Meeting may delegate any power conferred by this Constitution in respect of the conduct of the meeting to any person.
- (c) Only unfinished business is to be transacted at a General Meeting resumed after an adjournment.

## 5.8 Voting

- (a) Any resolution to be considered at a General Meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is demanded.
- (b) A declaration by the Chairman of a General Meeting that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or lost and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting shall be taken as conclusive evidence of the fact without the need to show the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.
- (c) Subject to clause 5.8(d) and despite any law to the contrary, a poll for a resolution may be demanded by at least 2 Members present and entitled to vote on the resolution.
- (d) A poll may not be demanded where there are only 2 Members of the Company.
- (e) A poll may not be demanded on the election of a Chairman or on a resolution for adjournment.

#### 5.9 Procedure for Polls

- (a) A poll when demanded shall be taken in the manner and at the time the Chairman directs.
- (b) The result of the poll shall be a resolution of the General Meeting at which the poll was demanded.
- (c) The demand for a poll shall not prevent a meeting from continuing for the transaction of any business other than that on which a poll has been demanded.

## 5.10 Chairman's Casting Vote

In the case of an equality of votes on a show of hands or on a poll, the Chairman will not have a casting vote and the resolution shall not be passed.

## 5.11 Voting of Members

- (a) Subject to this Constitution:
  - (i) at any General Meeting each Member entitled to attend and vote may attend and vote in person or by proxy or attorney and (where the Member is a body corporate) by representative;
  - (ii) on a show of hands, every Member present in person, by proxy, by attorney or by representative and having the right to vote at the meeting has one vote; and
  - (iii) on a poll, every Member present in person, by proxy, by attorney or by representative and having the right to vote at the meeting has one vote.
- (b) A Member is not entitled to speak or vote at a General Meeting unless all sums then payable by the Member to the Company in respect of membership have been paid.

## 5.12 Objections to Qualification to Vote

A challenge to a right to vote at a General Meeting may only be made at the meeting and will be determined by the Chairman, whose decision is final. A vote allowed after an objection shall be valid for all purposes.

#### 5.13 Proxies

- (a) A Member who is entitled to attend and cast a vote at a General Meeting may appoint a person as the Member's proxy to attend and vote for the Member at the meeting.
- (b) Subject to clause 5.13(c), an instrument appointing a proxy must:
  - be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of the appointer's attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, be either under seal or under the hand of a duly authorised officer or attorney;
  - (ii) include the name of the Member, the name of the proxy and the signatures of both;
  - (iii) be in any form and contain any other information that the Board may from time to time determine;

and may specify the proportion or number of votes that the proxy may exercise.

- (c) If an instrument appointing a proxy fails to state the name of the proxy appointed then the appointment shall not be invalid but shall instead be taken to be given in favour of the chair of the relevant meeting.
- (d) A proxy may vote as the proxy thinks fit on any motion or resolution in respect of which no manner of voting is indicated.
- (e) For an instrument appointing a proxy to act on behalf of a Member at a General Meeting to be effective, the Company must receive the documents referred to in clause 5.13(b) prior to commencement or resumption of the General Meeting (as the case may be) to which the proxy relates.

- (f) Unless the Company has received written notice of the matter before the start or resumption of the meeting at which a proxy votes, a vote cast by the proxy will be valid even if, before the proxy votes:
  - (i) the appointing Members dies; or
  - (ii) the Members are mentally incapacitated; or
  - (iii) the Members revoke the proxy's appointment; or
  - (iv) the Members revoke the authority under which the proxy was appointed by a third party.
- (g) A proxy's authority to vote is suspended while the Member is present at the General Meeting to which the appointment relates.

#### 5.14 Representative

A Member may appoint a representative to attend and vote on its behalf at any General Meeting of Members and evidence of such appointment shall be presented to the Secretary at the commencement of the General Meeting to which is applies.

#### 5.15 Attorneys

- (a) For an instrument appointing an attorney to act on behalf of a Member at any meeting of the company or at any meeting of the Company for a specified period to be effective the Company must receive:
  - (i) the power of attorney or a certified copy of that power of attorney; and
  - (ii) any evidence that the Directors may require concerning the validity and non-revocation of that power of attorney,

prior to commencement or resumption of the meeting (as the case may be) to which the appointment relates.

- (b) Unless the Company has received written notice of the matter before the start or resumption of the meeting at which an attorney votes, a vote cast by the attorney will be valid even if, before the proxy votes:
  - (i) the appointing Member dies; or
  - (ii) the Member is mentally incapacitated; or
  - (iii) the Member revokes the attorney's appointment; or
  - (iv) the Member revokes the authority under which the attorney was appointed by a third party.

#### 5.16 Electronic Meetings of Members

A General Meeting may be called or held using any technology that provides contemporaneous linking together by an instantaneous communication device.

# 6. Directors & Board

## 6.1 Number of Directors

- (a) There must be no less than five (5) and no more than twelve (12) Directors at any one time.
- (b) The Directors may appoint any natural person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors, but the total number of Directors must not at any time exceed the maximum number allowed under this Constitution.

# 6.2 Eligibility for Appointment

To be eligible to serve as Director a person must be:

- (a) a natural person over the age of 18 years; and
- (b) nominated for office by at least 1 Member of the Company who, at the time of nomination, be a Member of the Company who is entitled to vote at General Meetings and who is not in arrears of any amounts due and payable to the Company.

## 6.3 Appointment and removal of a Director

- (a) Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company may at any time by resolution passed in General Meeting:
  - (i) appoint any person as a Director; or
  - (ii) remove any Director from office.
- (b) Each Director shall hold office until there is a vacancy in his or her office within the meaning of clause 6.7.

#### 6.4 Retirement of Directors

- (a) At the three annual general meetings after the Company's second annual general meeting, one third (or if the total number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one third) of the Directors must resign, but may offer themselves for re-election. Directors may volunteer to resign but if insufficient volunteers then the remainder must be determined by lot.
- (b) Commencing at the Company's sixth annual general meeting one third (or if the total number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one third) of the Directors must resign, but may offer themselves for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation at an annual general meeting are those Directors who have been longest in office since their last appointment. Directors appointed on the same day may agree among themselves or determine by lot which of them will retire.

#### 6.5 Interests of Directors

- (a) Directors are required to act in the interests of the Company as a whole when deciding issues.
- (b) If a Director has a material personal interest in a matter that relates to the affairs of the Company, the Director must:

- (i) declare the nature and the extent of the interest to the Board (such declaration may be in the form of a standing declaration of interests);
- (ii) not be present at the Board Meeting while the matter is being considered by the Board; and
- (iii) not vote on the matter.

## 6.6 Remuneration

- (a) Subject to clause 6.6(b), no Director is entitled to be paid a fee for his or her services as Director.
- (b) Subject to clause 6.6(c), a Director may be engaged by the Company in any other capacity (other than auditor) and may be appointed on such terms as to remuneration, tenure of office and otherwise as may be agreed by the Board from time to time.
- (c) Any amount paid to a Director under clause 6.6(b) must be approved by the Board.
- (d) The Board may in their absolute discretion resolve to pay a Director travelling and other expenses properly incurred by that Director in connection with the affairs of the Company, including attending General, Board or committee meetings of the Company.

#### 6.7 Vacation of Office

For the purposes of the Constitution, the office of Board Director or Chairman becomes vacant if the Director or Chairman:

- (a) dies;
- (b) becomes bankrupt or insolvent;
- (c) resigns their office by notice in writing given to the Secretary;
- (d) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under a law relating to mental health; or
- (e) fails to attend three (3) consecutive Board meetings without prior notice of absence having been approved by the Board.

## 6.8 Board Management & Control

- (a) The affairs of the Company shall be controlled and managed by or under the direction of the Board.
- (b) The Board shall control and manage the affairs of the Company and may:
  - subject to these clauses and the Corporations Act, exercise all such powers of the Company other than those powers and functions that are required by these clauses to be exercised by General Meetings of the Members;
  - subject to these clauses and the Corporations Act, has power to perform all such acts and things as appear to the Board to be desirable or essential for the proper management of the business affairs of the Board including the arrangement of any insurances;

- (iii) appoint such other working groups as it deems necessary. Such working groups may include persons who are not the Members; and
- (iv) appoint executives of the Company and determine the terms and conditions of their appointment including but not limited to any associated remuneration.

## 6.9 Composition of Board

The Board shall consist of all of the Directors currently in office.

## 6.10 Board Proceedings

- (a) The Board shall meet at three (3) times each calendar year at such places and such times as the Board may determine.
- (b) Meetings of the Board may be convened by the Chairman or on request to the Chairman by any two (2) Directors.
- (c) Four Directors (4) (personally present or participating by telephonic or electronic media) constitute a quorum for the business of a meeting of the Board.
- (d) No business shall be transacted at a Board meeting unless a quorum is present and if, within thirty (30) minutes of the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting shall be dissolved.
- (e) Questions arising at a meeting of the Board or of any working group appointed by the Board shall be determined on a show of hands or, if demanded by a Director, by a poll taken in such a manner as the person presiding at the meeting may determine.
- (f) Each Director present at a meeting of the Board (including the person presiding at the meeting) is entitled to one (1) vote and, in the event of an equality of votes on any question, the Chairman shall have a second or casting vote.
- (g) Written notice of each meeting of the Board shall be served on each Director at least seven (7) business days before the meeting by:
  - (i) delivering it to them personally; or
  - (ii) sending it by facsimile or electronic transmission to a number or email address nominated by the Director.
- (h) If it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the election or appointment of a person to be an officer or a Director by the Board, or to act in that capacity, or that a person so elected or appointed was disqualified, all acts done by that person are valid as if the person had been duly elected or appointed and was qualified to act in that capacity.
- (i) A Meeting of Directors may be called or held using any technology that provides contemporaneous linking together by an instantaneous communication device.

#### 6.11 Out of Session Board Decisions

A resolution in writing agreed and signed by a majority of the Directors for the time being entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Board, shall be as valid and effectual as if it has been passed at a meeting of the Board duly convened and held. Any such resolution may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one (1) or more Directors.

Electronic copies of scanned originals of signed copies will be sufficient evidence of a signed assent by Directors.

#### 6.12 Chairman

- (a) The Directors may elect one of the Directors to the office of Chairman of the Board of Directors and may determine the period for which that Director is to be Chairman of the Board of Directors. The inaugural Chairman shall be a representative of a Founding Member for an initial period of two (2) years.
- (b) The Board may remove the Chairman at any time.
- (c) The Chairman must (if present within fifteen (15) minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting and willing to act) chair each meeting of Directors.
- (d) The Directors present must elect one of themselves to chair all or part of the meeting of Directors if:
  - (i) there is no Chairman; or
  - (ii) the Chairman is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of a meeting of Directors; or
  - (iii) the Chairman is present within that time but is not willing to chair all or part of that meeting.

#### 6.13 Secretary

- (a) The secretary shall be the person appointed by the Board from time to time.
- (b) The Secretary of the Board shall:
  - arrange to keep minutes of the resolutions and proceedings of each general meeting and each Board meeting in books provided for that purpose, together with a record of the names of persons present at meetings;
  - (ii) arrange to retain copies of all board papers and if in electronic form to be kept backed up on separate medium on separate systems;
  - (iii) prepare and file on behalf of the Board all Company returns required by the Corporations Act.
- (c) The accounts and books shall be available for inspection at all reasonable times by the Members.

#### 6.14 Patron

The Board may approve the appointment of a patron of the Company on the terms and conditions as approved by the Board.

#### 6.15 Committees

- (a) A committee shall be established for the purposes of:
  - (i) maintaining the objectives of the Company according to clause 3.1.
  - (ii) maintaining oversight of initiatives directed by the General Manager; and

(iii) keeping the Board informed of any issues relevant to the Company.

This committee will be called the "Oversight Committee".

(b) The Board may appoint such other committees as it deems appropriate and which may include persons who are not Directors or Members of the Company.

# 7. Administration

## 7.1 Execution of Documents

- (a) Without limiting the ways in which the Company may execute documents in accordance with Corporations Act, if the Directors so decide, the Company may have a common seal and the Directors may determine the procedures for the use of the seal.
- (b) The Company may execute a document as a Deed if the document is expressed to be executed as a Deed and is executed in accordance with s127 Corporations Act or is executed by a person duly appointed as an attorney of the Company under a valid Power of Attorney or is executed by a person duly appointed as a representative of the Company in writing and executed in accordance with s127 Corporations Act.
- (c) The Directors may resolve, generally or in a particular case, that any signature on of a Director of the Company may be affixed by mechanical or other means.
- (d) Negotiable instruments may be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or otherwise executed by or on behalf of the Company in the manner and by the persons as the Directors resolve.

#### 7.2 Minutes and Board Papers

- (a) The Board will cause minutes to be made in books in accordance with the Corporations Act.
- (b) The minute book must be held at the registered office of the Company.

## 7.3 Accounts

- (a) The Board will cause proper books of account to be kept in which shall be kept full, true and complete accounts of the affairs and transactions of the Company. Proper books will not be deemed to be kept unless the books give true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs and explain the transactions.
- (b) Subject to any reasonable restrictions as to the time and manner of inspecting the same that may be imposed in accordance with the Constitution, the books of account must be kept at the registered office and any other place the Board requires and will be open to the inspection of the Board at any time.
- (c) The Board will provide financial reports, which comprise a balance sheet and an income statement in respect of the last completed financial year of the Company and as required by the Corporations Act.

## 7.4 Payments

All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments for payment shall be signed by at least two (2) accredited officers authorised to do so by the Board or if electronic via two independent electronic signoffs by separate accredited officers.

## 7.5 Audit

- (a) The books of account, and financial reports and records shall be audited each year by an auditor or auditors appointed by the Board in accordance with the Corporations Act.
- (b) The remuneration of the auditor must be fixed and the Auditor's duties regulated in accordance with the Corporations Act.
- (c) If any casual vacancy occurs in the office of the auditor the Board shall appoint the auditor and fix the auditor's fee within one month of the vacancy. The auditor so chosen will hold Office as auditor of the Company until the next General Meeting following their appointment.
- (d) The auditor or the auditor's agent so authorised in writing is entitled:
  - (i) to attend any General Meeting;
  - (ii) for that purpose to receive all notices of and other communications relation to any General Meeting which the Members is entitled to receive; and
  - (iii) to be heard at any General Meeting which he or she attends on any part of the business of the meeting which concerns the Auditor as Auditor, and is entitled to be heard.

#### 7.6 Custody of Records

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in the Constitution, the Secretary shall keep in their custody or under their control all books, documents and securities of the Company, which shall be available for inspection at all reasonable times by the Members.
- (b) Upon the request of a Member the Secretary will arrange to provide the Members with copies of:
  - (i) the current Constitution of the Company; and
  - (ii) the Deeds of any trust of the Company.

#### 7.7 Inspection of Records

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Directors may determine whether and to what extent, and at what time and places and under what conditions, the accounting records and other documents of the Company or any of them will be open to the inspection of the Members, and a Member does not have any right to inspect any document of the Company except as provided by law or authorised by the Directors or by the Company in meeting of the Company's Members.

## 8. Winding Up and Liability

## 8.1 Resolution for Winding Up

The Company may be dissolved by a special resolution of the Members at a General Meeting.

## 8.2 Contribution of the Members on Winding Up

Every person who is or has been a Member undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Company in the event of the Company being wound up while he or she is a Member, or within one year of ceasing to be a Member, such amount as may be required not exceeding ten dollars (\$10.00), for the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company contracted whilst the Members or past Members as the case may be was a Member of the Company, and the costs, charges and expenses of winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributors amongst themselves.

## 8.3 Distribution of surplus assets

- (a) Subject to the Corporations Act and any other applicable Act, and any court order, any surplus assets (including 'gift funds' as defined in clause 8.3(d)) that remain after the Company is wound up must be distributed to one or more charities:
  - (i) with charitable purpose(s) similar to, or inclusive of, the principal object in clause 3.1;
  - (ii) which also prohibit the distribution of any surplus assets to its members to at least the same extent as the Company; and
  - (iii) that is or are 'deductible gift recipients' within the meaning of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997* (Cth).
- (b) The decision as to the charity or charities to be given the surplus assets must be made by a special resolution of Members at or before the time of winding up. If the Members do not make this decision, the Company may apply to the Supreme Court of New South Wales to make this decision.
- (c) If the Company's deductible gift recipient endorsement is revoked (whether or not the Company is to be wound up), any surplus gift funds must be transferred to one or more charities that meet the requirements of clause 8.3(a), as decided by the Directors.
- (d) For the purpose of this clause 8.3:
  - (i) *gift funds* means:
    - (A) gifts of money or property for the principal object of the Company;
    - (B) contributions made in relation to a fund-raising event held for the principal object of the Company; and
    - (C) money received by the Company because of such gifts and contributions.
  - (ii) **contributions** and **fund-raising event** have the same meaning as in Division 30 of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997* (Cth).

#### 8.4 Officers Indemnities and Insurance

- (a) To the extent permitted by the Corporations Act:
  - (i) the Company indemnifies every person who is or has been an Officer of the Company or of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company against any liability for costs and expenses incurred by that person in defending any proceedings in which judgement is given in that person's favour, or in which the person is acquitted, or in connection with an application in

relation to any proceedings in which the Court grants relief to the person under the Law; and

- (ii) the Company indemnifies every person who is or has been an Officer of the Company or of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company against any liability incurred by that person, as an Officer of the Company or of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to another person (other than the Company or a related body corporate of the Company) unless the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.
- (b) The Company may pay, or agree to pay, a premium in respect of a contract insuring a person who is or has been an Officer of the Company or of a subsidiary of the Company against a liability:
  - (i) incurred by the person in their capacity as an Officer of the Company or of a subsidiary of the Company or in the course of acting in connection with the affairs of the Company of a subsidiary of the Company or otherwise arising out of the Officer holding such office provided that the liability does not arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company or a subsidiary of the Company or a contravention of Sections 182 and 183 of the Corporations Act; or
  - (ii) for costs and expenses incurred by that person in defending proceedings, whatever their outcome.
- (c) In this clause 8.4 the term "proceedings" means any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, being proceedings in which it is alleged that the person has done or omitted to do some act, matter or thing in their capacity as Officer, or in the course of acting in connection with the affairs of the Company or a wholly-owned subsidiary or subsidiary of the Company, or otherwise out of the Officer holding such office, including proceedings alleging that he or she was guilty of negligence, default, breach of trust or breach of duty in relation to the Company or a wholly-owned subsidiary or subsidiary of the Company, and

# 9. By-Laws

Subject to the Corporations Act and the Constitution, the Board may make By-Laws as it may deem appropriate for the proper conduct, control and management of the Company and, in particular:

- (a) the management and good governance of the affairs of the Company;
- (b) the conduct of the Company's employees;
- (c) the setting a part of any part or parts of the Company's premises or properties for particular purposes;
- (d) the procedure at meetings of the Company and its committees;
- (e) the formation of any committee including the composition, terms of reference and other relevant matters of such committees;
- (f) generally, all such matters as are commonly the subject matter of regulations for the proper conduct of companies similar to the Company and are not expressly dealt with in this Constitution; and
- (g) capacity to establish and administer the Company.

# **10.** Variation of Constitution

The Constitution may not be varied except by a special resolution passed at a General Meeting of the Company.

# 11. Severing Invalid Provisions

If at any time any provision of this Constitution is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, that does not affect or impair:

- (a) the legality, validity or enforceability in that jurisdiction of any other provision of this Constitution; or
- (b) the legality, validity or enforceability under the law of any other jurisdiction of that or any other provision of this Constitution.